
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No.

18 U.S.C. j 371
22 U.S.C. j 2778(19(2)
22 U.S.C. j 2778/)
18 U.S.C. j 2

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

ALBERTO PICHARDO

and

VICTOR BROW N,

Defendants.

/

INFORM ATION

The United States Attorney charges that:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

At all times material to this lnformation:

The Defendants

ALBERTO PICHARDO was an oftker of the Venezuelan Air Force and was responsible

for the oversight and control of the Venezuelan M ilitary Acquisitions Ofsce in Doral, Florida.

VICTOR BROW N was engaged in the business of buying and selling aircraft parts from

an offke located at 13550 NW  107 Avenue, Hialeah Gardens, Florida.

The Arms Export Control Act

Th4 Arms Export Control Act and its attendant regulations, the lnternational Traftk in Arms

Regulations (Title 22, Code of Federal Regulations, Sections 120- 130), require aperson to apply for

and obtain an export license from the Directorate of Defense Trade Controls of the United States
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Department of State before exporting a defense article designated on the United States M unitions

List from the United States.

COUNT 1

Conspiracy

(18 U.S.C. j 371)

1. The çdGeneral Allegations'' portion of this Information is realleged and incorporated

by reference as if fully set forth herein.

From at least as early as November 22, 2008 through on or about August 4, 2010, in

Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

ALBERTO PICHARDO

and
VICTOR BROW N,

did knowingly and willfully combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with persons known and

unknown to the United States Attom ey, to commit an offense against the United States, that is, to

export and cause to be exported, from the United States to a place outside thereof, defense articles

designated onthe United States M unitions Listwithoutfirst obtainingtherequired license orwritten

approval from the Directorate of Defense Trade Controls of the United States Department of State,

in violation of Title 22, Unittd States Code, Section 2778(172) and Title 22, Code of Federal

Regulations, Sections 12 1.1, 123. 1, and 127.1.

OBJECTIVE OF THE CONSPIM CY

3. ltwas the objective of the conspiracythat defendants ALBERTO PICHARDO, and

VICTOR BROW N and their co-conspirators enrich themselves by unlawfully exporting defense

articles from the United States to the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela. It was a further part of the

objective of the conspiracy that the defendants and their co-conspirators perpetuate and conceal the
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existence of the conspiracy.

M ANNER AND M EANS

The manner and means by which defendants ALBERTO PICHARDO and VICTOR

BROW N and their co-conspirators sought to accomplish the objective of the conspiracy included
,

among others, the following:

4. Co-conspirators residing in Venezuela and Spain advised defendants ALBERTO

PICHARDO and VICTOR BROW N and another member of the conspiracy who was thenresiding

in the United States, hereinafter identifed as $W .R.'' of the specitk defense articles that the

Venezuelan Air Force wanted to purchase.

5. At various times, co-conspirators, including defendants ALBERTO PICHARDO

and VICTOR BROW N met with oftkials of the Venezuelan Air Force regarding the defense

articles that the Venezuelan Air Force wanted to purchase.

6. Co-conspirators, including A.R. and defendants ALBERTO PICHARDO and

VICTOR BROW N,purchased and obtained requested defense articles from various suppliers
,

including co-conspirator Kirk Drellich of SkyHigh Accessories
, Inc., located in Davie, Florida.

7. Defendants ALBERTO PICHARDO and VICTOR BROW N and their co-

conspirators made arrangements for the shipment of the defense articles to the Bolivarian Republic

of Venezuela.

8. Defendants ALBERTO PICHARDO and VICTOR BROW N and their co-

conspirators did not obtain the required license and m itten approval from the Directorate of Defense

Trade Controls of the United States Department of State prior to exporting the defense articles from

the United States.

Co-conspirators residing in foreign countries paid defendants ALBERTO

3
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PlcHAo o,vlcToRBRoM ,co-conspiratorsKirk Drellichand A .R., andothers intheunited

States for their actions in obtaining the defense articles.

OVERT ACTS

In furtherance of this conspiracy, and to accomplish its objective, at least one of the co-

conspirators com mitted or causedto be com mitted, inthe SouthernDistrictof Floridaand elsewhere,

at least one of the following overt acts, among others:

10. On or about November 22, 2008, defendant VICTOR BROM  traveled from

M iami, Florida to M adrid, Spain to meet with some of his co-conspirators.

1 1 . On or about February 1 1, 2009, defendant VICTOR BROM  and co-conspirator

A.R. traveled from M iami, Florida to Madrid, Spain to meet with some of their co-conspirators
.

12. On or about July 1, 2009, defendant ALBERTO PICHARDO and a co-conspirator

from Spain, hereinafter identified as ç1A.S.
''
, inspected two T56 engines at a facility in Oakland,

Califom ia.

13. On or about Julyzl, zoogrdefendant VICTOR BROW N and co-conspirator4dA
.s.''

attended a meeting with two other individuals at an office in Fort Lauderdale
, Florida.

14. During the aforementioned meeting on Julyzl, 2009, defendant VICTORBROW N

reviewed the é%lvife Books'' of two T56 engines which his co-conspirators intended to export out of

the United States. The dtife Books'' set forth the specifcations
, maintenance, and overhaul records

of two T56 engines.

On or about July 31, 2009, an irrevocable letter of credit was issued for the purchase

of two T56 engines in the amount of $3,430,000 on behalf of a company in Spain, herein identifed

as tdspanish Company #1'', in favor of a Florida corporation, herein identised as QéM .T.G., LLC''.

16. On or about August 4, 2009, co-conspirator A.S. and a co-conspirator from Spain,
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herein identified as &tM .G.'', traveled to Califomia to observe the planned shipment of two T56

engines to Venezuela.

17. On or about September 14, 2009, co-conspirator Kirk Drellich provided an Actuator
,

Geneva Lock (Part Number 100930-1); a Contractor/lligh Power Relay (Part Number B123J or

1616523-7); avalve, Shutoff (PartNumber 106388-1-2); and avalve, Shut-off, Hydraulic, Solenoid

Operated (Part Number 9A022-1) to defendant VICTOR BROW N and co-conspirator A.R.

18. On or about September 14, 2009, defendant VICTOR BROW N and co-conspirator

A.R. shipped or caused to be shipped the aforementioned Actuator
, Geneva Lock (Part Number

100930-1); Contractorm igh Power Relay (PartNllmber B123J or 1616523-7); Valve, Shutoff (Pa14

Number 106388-1-2); and Valve, Shut-off, Hydraulic, Solenoid Operated (Part Number 9A022-1)

out of the United States to the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela.

19. On or about October 13, 2009, co-conspirator Kirk Drellich provided a Pressure

Switch (Part Number H-E 40088) to defendant VICTOR BROW N and co-conspirator A.R.

Onor about October 13, 2009, VICTOR BROW N and co-conspiratorA .R. shipped

or caused to be shipped the aforemenlioned Pressme Switch (Part Number H-E 40088) out of the

United States to the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela.

21. 0n oraboutNovember l0, 2009, co-conspiratorKirkDrellichprovidedtwo Turbines
,

Cooling (Part Number 571925-3-1) to defendant VICTOR BROW N and co-conspirator A.R.

22. On or aboutNovember 10, 2009, defendant VICTOR BROW N and co-conspirator

A.R. shipped or caused to be shipped the aforementioned two Ttlrbines, Cooling (Part Number

571925-3-1) out of the United States to the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela.

23. On or about December 1, 2009, co-conspirator Kirk Drellich provided an Actuator
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Rotary Trim Tab Assy. (PartNumber A489-5) and a Pump, Centrifugal, Fuel Booster (PartNumber

M 54860) to defendant VICTOR BROW N and co-conspirator A.R.

24. On or about December 1, 2009, defendant VICTOR BROW N and co-conspirator

A.R. shipped or caused to be shipped the aforementioned Actuator Rotary Trim Tab Assy. (Part

Number A489-5) and Pump, Centrifugal, Fuel Booster (Part Number 1G 54860) out of the United

States to the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela.

25. On or about December 3, 2009, co-conspirator Kirk Drellich provided a Rotating

Disk (Part Number 313010) to defendant VICTOR BROW N and co-conspirator A.R.

26. On or about December 3, 2009, defendant VICTOR BROW N and co-conspirator

A.R. shipped or caused to be shipped the aforementioned Rotating Disk tpartNumber 3 13010) out

of the United States to the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela.

27. On or about December 28, 2009, defendant VICTOR BROW N and another

individual delivered three shipping crates which contained thirtpfive HGU-84/P Rotary W ing

Helmets (Medium), ten HGU-84/P Rotary W ing Helmets (Large), and five HGU-84/P Rotary W ing

Helmets (X-Large) to a warehouse located at or near 1715 NW 79th Avenue, Miami, Florida.

28. On or about December 28, 2009, defendant VICTOR BROW N and co-conspirator

A.R. shipped or caused to be shipped the aforementioned thirtptqve HGU-84/P Rotary W ing

Helmets (Medium), ten HGU-84/P Rotary Wing Helmets (Large), and five HGU-84/P Rotary Wing

Helmets (X-Large) out of the United States to the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela.

29. On or about M ay 3, 2010, co-conspirator Kirk Drellich provided a Pressure Switch

(PartNumber H-E 40088), a Butterfly Valve and Actuator Assembly 3.00 DIA Stainless Steel (Part

Number BYLB-51045) and a Pump Assembly, Fuel Booster tpat4 Number 60-369A) to defendant
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VICTO R BROW N and co-conspirator A.R.

30. On or about M ay 3, 2010, defendant VICTOR BROW N and co-conspirator A.R.

shipped or caused to be shipped the aforementioned Pressure Switch (Part Number H-E 40088),

Butterfly Valve and Actuator Assembly 3.00 DIA Stainless Steel tpart Number BYLB-51045) and

Pump Assembly, Fuel Booster (Part Number 60-369A) out of the United States to the Bolivarian

Republic of Venezuela.

31. On or about July 12, 2010, co-conspirator Kirk Drellich provided three 25 Liter

Liquid Oxygen Converters (Part Number 10C-0001-26) to defendant VICTOR BROW N and co-

conspirator A.R.

32. On or about July 12, 2010, defendant VICTOR BROW N and co-conspirator A .R.

shipped or caused to be shipped the aforementioned tlzree 25 Liter Liquid Oxygen Converters (Part

Number 10C-0001-26) out of the United States to the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela.

A1l in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

COUNTS 2 - 14

Violation of the Arms Export Control Act

(22 U.S.C. j 2778)

The ltGeneral Allegations'' portion of this Information is realleged and incoporated

by reference as if fully set forth herein.

On or about the dates listed as to each count set forth herein, in M iami-Dade County,

in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendant,

VICTOR BROW N,

did knowinglyand willfullyexport, from the United States to the Bolivmian Republic of Venezuela,

defense articles, under Category VI1I(h) of the United States Munitions List, that is,
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Count Date Defense Article Part Number Quantity

2 09/14/09 Actuator, Geneva Lock 1009350-1 1

3 09/14/09 Contractor/l-ligh Power Relay B123J 1

Or

1616523-7

4 09/14/09 Valve, Shutoff 106388-1-2 1

5 09/14/09 Valve, Shut-off, Hydraulic, Solenoid 9A022-1 1
Operated

6 10/13/09 Pressure Switch H-E 40088 1

7 1 1/10/09 Turbine, Cooling 571925-3-1 2

8 12/01/09 Actuator Rotary Elevator Trim Tab Assy. A489-5 1

9 12/01/09 Pump, Centrifugal, Fuel Booster 1G 54860 1

10 12/03/09 Rotating Disk 3 13010 1

1 1 05/03/10 Pressure Switch H-E 40088 1

12 05/03/10 Butterfly Valve and Actuator Assembly BYLB-51045

3.00 DIA Stainless Steel

13 05/03/10 Pump Assembly, Fuel Booster 60-369A 1

14 07/12/10 25 Liter Liquid Oxygen Converter 10C-0001-26 3

withouthaving first obtained the required license orwritten approval from the Directorate of Defense

Trade Controls of the United States Department of State; in violation of Title 22, United States

Code, Sections 2778419(2) and (c); Title 22, Code of Federal Regulations, Sections 121.1, 123.1, and

127. 1; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

CO UNTS 15-16
Violations of the Arm s Export Control Act

(22 U.S.C. j 2778)

The StGeneral Allegations'' portion of this Information is realleged and incorporated

by reference as if fully set forth herein.

2. On or aboutthe date set forth herein, in M inm i-Dade County, in the Southern District
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of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

ALBERTO PICHARDO

and

VICTOR BROW N,

did knowingly and willfully exporq from the United States to the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela,

defense articles, under Category V1II(b) of the United States Munitions List, that is,

Count Date Defense Article Part Number

15 09/03/09 Rolls-Royce T56-A-15LFE Gas Turbine Engine 6875451

16 10/24/09 Rolls-Royce T56-A-15LFE Gas Turbine Engine 6875451

withouthaving firstobtained the required license orwritten approval from the Directorate of Defense

Trade Controls of the United States Department of State; in violation of Title 22, United States

Code, Sections 2778(b)(2) and (c); Title 22, Code of Federal Regulations, Sections 121. 1, 123.1, and

127. 1 ; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

COUNTS 17 - 19
V iolation of the Arm s Export Control Act

(22 U.S.C. j 2778)

1. The ûtGeneral Allegations'' portion of this lnformation is realleged and incorporated

by reference as if fully set forth herein.

On or about the dates listed as to each count set forth herein, in M iami-Dade County,

in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendant,

VICTO R BROW N,

did knowingly and willfully exporq from the United States to the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela,

defense articles, under Category X(a)(6) of the United States Munitions List, that is,

9
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Count Date Defense Article Part Number Quantity

17 12/28/09 HGU-84/P Rotary Wing Helmet (Medium) D7748-1 35

18 12/28/09 HGU-84/P Rotary W ing Helmet (Large) D7748-2 10

19 12/28/09 HGU-84/P Rotary W ing Helmet (X-Large) 177748-3 5

withouthaving tsrst obtained the required license orwritten approval from the Directorate of Defense

Trade Controls of the United States Department of State; in violation of Title 22, United States

Code, Section 2778(b)(2) and (c); Title 22, Code of Federal Regulations, Sections 121.1, 123.1, and

127.1; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS

1. The allegations of Count 1, l5, and 16 of this Information are re-alleged for the pumose

of alleging forfeitures to the United States of America of certain property in which defendant

ALBERTO PICHARDO has an interest pursuant to Rule 32.2(a), Federal Rules of Criminal

Procedure, and the provisions of Title 18, United States Code, Section 98 1(a)(1)(C), as made

applicable by Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), and the procedures outlined at Title 21,

United States Code, Section 853.

2. Upon conviction of any violation of Title 22, United States Code, Section 2778, or a

conspiracy to commit such offense, defendant ALBERTO PICHARDO shall forfeit to the United

States any property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to said

violation.

3. The property subject to forfeiture includes but is not limited to: $ 21,000.

Al1 pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 98 1(a)(1)(C), as made applicable by

10
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Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), and Title 21, United States Code, Section 853.

# , w  gv
& . 'WIFREDO A. FERRER

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

$

'

A

'

r'--' 

v:. ,y'
THOM AS J. LVIHILL

SENIOR LITIGATION COUNSEL
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

VS.

ALBERTO PICHARDO, at aI.

Defendants.
I

CASE NO.

CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY*

Superseding Case Information:

Coud Division'. (select one)

Y Miami Key W est
FTL W PB FTP

I do hereby certify that:

New Defendantts) Yes No
Number of New Defendants
Total number of counts

I have carefully considered the allegations of the indictment, the number of defendants, the number of
robable witnesses and the Iegal complexities of the Indictment/lnformation attached hereto.9

I am aware that the information supplied 9n this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this
Court in setting theircalendars and schedullng criminal trials underthe mandate of the SpeedyTrial Act,
Title 28 U.S.C. Section 3161.

lnterpreter: (Yes qr No) Mn
List language and/or dlalect

This case will take n days for the parties to try.

Please check appropriate category and type of offense Iisted below:

(Check only one)

0 to 5 days
6 to 10 days
11 to 20 days
21 to 60 days
61 days and over

4.

5.

6. Has this case been previously filed in this District Court? (Yes or No) Mn
lf yes:
Judge: Case No.
(Attach copy of dispositive order)
Has a complaint been filed in this matter? (Yes or No) Kln
If yes:
Magistrate Case No.
Related Miscqllaneous numbers:
Defendantts) ln federal custody as of
Defendantts) In state custody as of
Rule 20 from the District of

Is this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No) Nn

(Check only one)

Petty
Minor
M isdem .
Felony

Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Nodhern Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office prior
to October 14, 2003? Yes Nn No

Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office prior
to September 1, 2007* Yes Mn No

*K -

.

. .- y y,
T h o m a s y.

.
J M u I ' i I I

ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
Florida Bar No,/court 0931209

*penalty Sheetls) attached REv4/&o8
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT CO URT
SO UTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLO RIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: Alberto Pichardo

Case No:

Count #: 1

Conspiracy to Violate the Arm s Export Confrol Act

Title 18. United States Code. Section 371

# M ax. Penalty: Five years' imprisonment, three years' supervised release, and $250,000 fine.

Counts #: 15 - 16

Violation of the Arm s Export Control Act

Title 22. United States Code. Sections 27784b142) and 27784c)

* M ax. Penalty: Ten years' imprisonment, three years' supervised release, and $1,000,000 fine.

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release, and fine; does not include

possible restitution, special assessm ents, parole terms or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: Victor Brown

Case No:

Count #: 1

Conspiracy to Violate the Arms Export Control Act

Title 18. United States Code. Section 371

* M ax. Penalty: Five years' imprisonment, three years' supervised release, and $250,000 fine.

Counts #: 2 - 19

Violation of the Arm s Export Control Act

Title 22. United States Code. Sections 27784b1421 and 2778(c)

* M ax. Penalty: Ten years' imprisonment, three years' supervised release, and $1,000,000 fine.

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release, and fine; does not include

possible restitution, special assessments, parole terms or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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